1
2
3 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

4 Electronically Filed
5 Aug 21 2018 01:59 p.m.
6 Elizabeth A. Brown
7 Clerk of Supreme Court

8 GARY LAMAR CHAMBERS

S.Ct. No. 73446

9 Appellant,

10 vs.

D.C. No. C292987-1

11 THE STATE OF NEVADA,

12 Respondent.

13 **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

14 JEAN J. SCHWARTZER, ESQ
15 Nevada Bar No. 11223
16 Law Office of Jean J. Schwartzer
17 10620 Southern Highlands Pkwy
18 Suite 110-473
19 Las Vegas, Nevada 89141
20 (702) 979-9941
21 Attorney for Appellant

STEVEN B. WOLFSON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 1565
Clark County District Attorney
Clark County District Attorney's
Office
200 Lewis Avenue
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155
(702) 671-2500

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The alleged victims in this case, Lisa Papoutsis (“Papoutsis”) and Gary Bly (“Bly”) were both drug dealers and drug users according to neighbors and evidence found in their trailer. 7 AA 688; 8 AA 714-15; 9 AA 835; 11 AA 1020. Both were living inside a trailer that flagrantly acknowledged that drugs could be purchased there. 3 AA 296-298. Indeed, the State of Nevada conclusively found that alleged victim Lisa Papoutsis was not an actual “victim” and denied her financial assistance under the State’s Victims of Crime Program. 4 AA 300.

The evidence presented at trial showed that in July of 2013, Chambers was abusing methamphetamines. 3 AA 143. He purchased drugs at Papoutsis’ and Bly’s trailer on several prior occasions. 3 AA 143. On July 9, 2013 day of the shooting, Chambers drove over to the trailer and walked in the front door. 4, 11-12. **He was there to purchase more meth. He took his wallet out to pay for the drugs, but a heated argument ensued between Chambers and Papoutsis over the amount to be paid. Bly backed up Lisa and pulled out a gun to challenge Chambers. A struggle occurred over the gun and both Papoutsis and Bly were shot.**² 3 AA 290-300; 3 AA 301; 4 AA 310-328. Unfortunately, Mr. Bly died from his injuries. Scared and shocked, Chambers fled the scene, leaving his wallet behind inside the trailer. Afterwards, medical testing showed both Papoutsis had

² This boldfaced section was only presented at sentencing through Chambers’ statement and through the sentencing memorandum filed by defense counsel.

1 large amounts of amphetamines, opiates and benzodiazepines. 11 AA 1089-90.
2 Additionally, Bly was found to have large amounts of meth, amphetamine, and
3 ephedrine and other illegal substances in their systems. 11 AA 1083-84.
4

5 At trial, Papoutsis testified that that morning, she received a call from
6 Chambers aka Money asking if he could stop by. 8 AA 757-58. Papoutsis
7 identified Chambers in the court room. 8 AA 757. According to Papoutsis,
8 Chambers came to her house and asked her if he knew why he was there. 8 AA
9 760. She noticed he had car keys, a wallet, and a gun in his hands when he got
10 there. Id. She noticed the gun was in a holster. Id.
11

12 Papoutsis testified that Chambers said something to her that gave her the
13 impression that Chambers was going to rob her so she called for Bly. 8 AA 761.
14 When Bly came into the room, he confronted Chambers. 8 AA 762-63. Papoutsis
15 claimed she did not see Bly touch Chambers. 8 AA 763. She further claimed that
16 neither she nor Bly had any weapons. 8 AA 764. After Bly was shot, she reached
17 for her phone that was on the coffee table and saw Chambers' gun so she swatted it
18 away, which is when it went off. 8 AA 764-65. The bullet went through her hand.
19 8 AA 766. Despite her previously testimony that Boy did not touch Chambers, she
20 believes the holster came off when Bly and Chambers confronted each other. 8 AA
21 766.
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 Papoutsis was taken to UMC where she was kept for three days. 8 AA 768.
2 While there, she gave a taped statement. 8 AA 769. Papoutsis told detectives that
3 she believed Chambers was trying to rob her before and after shooting Bly. 8 AA
4 778. She also told detectives that Chambers removed the gun from a holster when
5 Bly entered the room. 8 AA 779-80.
6
7

8 On cross, it was made clear that Papoutsis was not truthful with the police, at
9 the preliminary hearing and at trial because her testimony was not consistent. With
10 regard to her relationship with Chambers, at first she told detectives that she didn't
11 know why Chambers came over, but later told them that Chambers came over
12 because he knew Bly and Bly's wife Angel. 8 AA 782. She then changed her
13 testimony and said she didn't say that. 8 AA 781. According to Detective
14 Christopher Bunting ("Bunting"), she never once indicated to him that Chambers
15 had gone over to see Bly. 9 AA 869.
16
17
18

19 Papoutsis claimed she didn't know Chambers very well, but did not ask him
20 why he was coming over when he called. 8 AA 783. She admits she told detectives
21 that he had been to her trailer before to see a woman named Kristie. 8 AA 784-85.
22 Then at trial she said that she did not tell the detective truth; she does not
23 remember him meeting Kristie at his house. 8 AA 785. In short, Papoutsis did not
24 want the jury to know that Chambers was in fact going to her house to buy drugs
25 from her and that she is a drug dealer but could not manage to keep her lie straight.
26
27
28

1 During the interview, the detective told Papoutsis that he felt she was
2 leaving something out. 8 AA 786. When asked what the connection between her
3 and Chambers was, she told the detective that Chambers was a drug dealer. 8 AA
4 786-77. Papoutsis claimed she was heavily medicated at the time she gave the
5 interview. 8 AA 788. However, the detective, Bunting testified that Papoutsis
6 appeared competent during the interview and did not get the impression that she
7 was unable to answer questions. 9 AA 972.

10 Papoutsis said she never sold meth to Chambers. 8 AA 798. She also
11 claimed that she was under the influence of painkillers and stress when she
12 testified at the preliminary hearing. 8 AA 790. She did not believe her interview
13 with the detective should be given weight because she was heavily medicated. 8
14 AA 790-91. Papoutsis admitted to lying under oath at the preliminary hearing, but
15 then said she did not lie, she was “confused and tripped up by the question”. 8 AA
16 792. She claimed that she never sold drugs to Chambers because she is not a drug
17 dealer. 8 AA 792. She stated she did not sell Chambers drugs, Bly did. 8 AA793.

18 She was then questioned regarding “house rules” posted on a sign regarding
19 drug sales although she denied creating the sign or writing the rules. 8 AA 794-
20 796.

1 Papoutsis testified at the preliminary hearing that there was no meth or
2 illegal drugs in her house on July 9, 2013. . 8 AA 798. She claimed the little plastic
3 baggie on the table did not have meth residue in it. 8 AA 800.
4

5 After being released from UMC, Papoutsis claimed she went home and
6 found Chambers' wallet sitting on the coffee table. 9 AA 803-804. Rather than
7 calling the police, she called Daniel Plumlee to come pick it up. 9 AA 804.
8 However, in the pictures taken at the crime scene, the wallet is not on the table. 9
9 AA 805. Also, when Crime Scene Investigator, Amy Nemcik ("Mencik") searched
10 the trailer, she did not find a wallet or any identification for Chambers. 8 AA 708-
11 09. Finally, the officer first on the scene, Brett Brosnahan ("Brosnahan") testified
12 that when he questioned Papoutsis, she mentioned nothing about Chambers leaving
13 his wallet. 9 AA 859.
14
15
16

17 Chambers did not take anything from the trailer when he left—not any
18 money or belongings. 9 AA 807-808. Despite Papoutsis' story about how
19 Chambers came to her trailer and tried to rob her, she said Chambers ultimately did
20 not rob her. 9 AA 809. In short, Papoutsis' testimony, the State's only direct
21 evidence, was inconsistent, contradictory, and full of lies.
22
23

24 ///

25 ///

26 ///

1 **ARGUMENT**

2

3 **I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING CHAMBERS**

4 **MOTION IN LIMINE TO PRECLUDE THE STATE FROM**

5 **ADMITTING HIS PRIOR FELONY CONVICTIONS IF HE**

6 **TESTIFIED**

7 Chambers was convicted Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon, Attempt

8 Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon, Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon, and

9 Possession of Firearm by Ex-Felon. The charges revolve around a single incident

10 that occurred inside the trailer house of Papoutsis and Bly on July 9, 2013. One of

11 the alleged victims claims that Chambers was there to rob her and the other alleged

12 victim. However, Chamber's position is that he went to the alleged victim's house

13 to buy drugs and was forced to defend himself.

14

15

16 In 2003, Chambers was convicted of two (2) counts of Robbery with Use of

17 a Deadly Weapon, and one (1) count of First Degree Kidnapping. The case

18 involved two armed robberies Chambers was accused of committing. As to the two

19 Robbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon convictions, Chambers was sentenced to a

20 term of 52 months to 240 months for each, and 5 years to Life for the Kidnapping

21 count. All three counts were to run concurrently. Due to the large amount of time

22 imposed, at the time Chambers went to trial, he was serving his sentences on these

23 three convictions. 2 AA 147-157.

24

25

26

27

28

1 Chamber intended to testify in order to give his side of what happened in
2 this case. Otherwise, the jury would only hear from one of the surviving alleged
3 victims as to what caused the dispute and who was the initial aggressor. However,
4 Chambers was legitimately concerned that if he were to take the stand to tell the
5 jury what happened inside the trailer house, the State would seek to introduce his
6 three convictions from 2003. Therefore, prior to trial, Chambers moved the district
7 court to preclude the State from introducing at trial these prior convictions. 2 AA
8 147-157.
9

12 **A. Standard of Review**

13 The determination of whether to admit or exclude prior felony convictions is
14 reviewed for abuse of discretion. Brown v. State, 81 Nev. 397, 404 P.2d 428
15 (1965).
16

17 In general, Nevada law allows for any person who has taken the witness
18 stand to testify, including a criminal defendant, to be impeached by a prior
19 conviction of a felony crime. *See* NRS § 50.095. “The decision to admit or
20 exclude evidence of prior offenses is within the discretion of the trial court.”
21 Owens v. State, 96 Nev. 880, 884, 620 P.2d 1236, 1239 (1980).
22

24 Although the statute “declares a prior felony conviction may be admitted for
25 impeachment,” a trial court must exclude the conviction “if its probative value is
26 substantially outweighed by danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or
27
28

1 misleading the jury.” Edwards v. State, 90 Nev. 255, 263-64, 524 P.2d 328, 334
2 (1974) (citing NRS § 48.035(1)); Anderson v. State, 92 Nev. 21, 23, 544 P.2d
3 1200, 1201 (1976) (“However, prior felony convictions should not be admitted if
4 their ‘probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice,
5 of confusion of the issues or of misleading the jury.’”).
6
7

8 The Nevada Supreme Court has never given trial courts guidance as to what
9 a court should consider in exercising its discretion on whether or not to admit prior
10 convictions. However, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has in interpreting the
11 Federal Rules of Evidence (FRE) counterpart to Nevada’s NRS § 50.095, i.e., FRE
12 609. *See Mitchell v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court Nev.*, 131 Nev. Adv. Rep. 21, 348
13 P.3d 675, 679 (2015) (“The Nevada Commission that was tasked with proposing a
14 modern draft evidence code drew on the Preliminary Draft of Proposed Rules of
15 Evidence for the United States District Courts and Magistrates submitted by the
16 Advisory Committee on Federal Rules of Evidence (Draft Federal Rules”).
17
18
19

20 In balancing the probativeness versus prejudicial effect of prior convictions,
21 the Ninth Circuit has explained that a trial court should consider five factors:
22

- 23 (1) The impeachment value of the prior crime;
- 24 (2) The point in time of the conviction and the witness' subsequent history;
- 25 (3) The similarity between the past crime and the charged crime;
- 26 (4) The importance of the defendant's testimony; and
- 27 (5) The centrality of the credibility issue.

28 *See U.S. v. Wallace*, 848 P.2d 1464, 1473 n.12 (1988).

1 **B. Chambers Prior Convictions Were Far More Prejudicial than**
2 **Probative**

3 Here, a balancing of these factors reveals that Chambers' prior convictions
4 should be excluded. **First**, the prior convictions do not have significant
5 impeachment value as they do not involve crimes of dishonesty, like fraud, false
6 pretenses, perjury, or theft by deception. *See U.S. v. Bagley*, 772 F.2d 482, 487
7 (9th Cir. 1985). In *Bagley*, the Ninth Circuit explained:
8
9

10 Proper impeachment is not, in itself, evidence of guilt or innocence; it
11 merely casts a doubt on other evidence going directly to those issues
12 which the trier of fact should consider. Consistent with this purpose,
13 prior felony convictions which do not in themselves implicate the
14 veracity of a witness may have little impact on credibility. For
15 example, the question of the truth or falsity of a witness's statement
16 generally is not advanced in any material way by a showing of his
17 prior conviction of the crime of burglary or theft, unless issues of
18 credibility are otherwise directly involved.

19 *See Id.* (citations omitted).

20 Thus, the impeachment value of Chambers' prior convictions is quite low,
21 yet its prejudicial impact would be overwhelming.

22 **Second**, the prior convictions are very remote as they date back 13 years. A
23 significant amount of time has elapsed since these convictions.

24 **Third**, there is a strong similarity between the prior convictions and the
25 charged crimes in that they all deal with alleged robberies with use of a firearm.
26 Similarity between prior convictions and current charges weighs *against*
27 admissibility. On this point, the Ninth Circuit has explained:
28

1 To allow evidence of a prior conviction of the very crime for which a
2 defendant is on trial may be devastating in its potential impact on a
3 jury. . . . [T]here is a substantial risk that all exculpatory evidence will
4 be overwhelmed by a jury's fixation on the human tendency to draw a
5 conclusion which is impermissible in law: because he did it before, he
6 must have done it again.

7 Bagley, 772 F.2d at 488.

8 Here, besides being charged with Attempt Robbery, even the Murder charge
9 is predicated on a felony-murder theory based on the robbery allegation, as is the
10 Burglary charge (i.e., entry with the intent to commit a robbery). Thus, the only
11 purpose served by admitting the prior convictions would be to plant in the minds of
12 the jury the spectre that Chambers did it before and he did it again.

13 **Fourth**, Chambers testimony is of paramount importance to his defense. The
14 only people who were able to testify about what happened inside the trailer house
15 are Papoutsis and Chambers. There was no one who can provide a defense for
16 Chambers other than himself. Therefore, the importance of Chambers' testimony is
17 overriding.

18 Lastly, although the issue of credibility is central to Chambers' defense, it is
19 not so with the State's case. Besides the testimony of the alleged victim, the State
20 presented circumstantial evidence of guilt through the testimony of people who
21 witnessed what happened immediately before and after Chambers entered the
22 trailer house.

1 The district court considered the four factors outlined in Wallace and denied
2 Chambers Motion in Limine pursuant to NRS 50.095. 4 AA 307-309. In doing so
3
4 the district court made the following findings:

5 “I do believe the prior felony conviction for robbery with use of a
6 deadly weapon and first-degree kidnapping are relevant and
7 admissible. I believe that they go to the issue of credibility. Credibility
8 it an extremely critical issue in this particular case so the evidence is
9 highly probative. I don’t think it’s unfairly prejudicial to admit that
10 evidence considering Defendant did receive parole shortly before the
11 commission of the offense in this case. **The prior cases are violent
12 crimes again persons like the crimes in this case.** And I think that
13 also any prejudice can be mitigated by cautionary instruction as well
14 as voir dire you can conduct.”

15 4 AA 308-309.

16 It appears that the district court improperly weighed the four factors
17 enunciated by the Ninth Circuit. The district court did not address *how* the crimes
18 or robbery and first degree kidnapping would affect credibility other than the fact
19 that they are simply felony conviction. It appears that the district court only
20 considered when he was paroled, not convicted—thirteen years had elapsed
21 between when Chambers was convicted and when this alleged crime was
22 committed. It also appears that the district court erred in viewing the similarity of
23 the prior felonies and the instant alleged crimes are being in favor of admissibility
24 the felonies whereas Ninth Circuit has stated that similarity between prior
25 convictions and current charges weighs *against* admissibility. Bagley, 772 F.2d at
26 488.
27
28

1 Therefore, the District Court should have granted Chambers' Motion in
2 Limine to preclude the State from introducing his prior felony convictions at trial
3 had he testified and failure to do so amounts to an abuse of discretion. The only
4 defense Chambers had was one of self-defense. The only other witness to the
5 events that took place inside that trial was Papoutsis. She changed her story
6 repeatedly and lied numerous times under oath. Chambers, scared of the jury
7 believing that if he would commit such crimes before, he would do it again, felt he
8 had no choice but to not testify. Therefore, Chambers ability to defend himself
9 obstructed by the court's error in denying his Motion in Limine and the error was
10 prejudicial.
11
12
13
14

15 **II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE STATE'S** 16 **MOTION TO ALLOW CYNTHIA LACEY TO TESTIFY VIA** 17 **TELEVIDEO CONFERENCE VIOLATING CHAMBERS' RIGHT** 18 **TO CONFRONTATION**

19 **A. Standard of Review**

20 The Sixth Amendment of United States Constitution "provides that '[i]n all
21 criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right...to be confronted with the
22 witnesses against them.'" Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 42 124 S.Ct.
23 1354, 1359 (2004). Specifically the Confrontation Clause guarantees an
24 *opportunity* for effective cross-examination. Pantano v. State, 122 Nev. 782, 790,
25
26
27
28

1 138 P.3d 477, 482 (2006) *quoting* Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 679,
2 106 S.Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed.2d 674 (1986)(internal quotations omitted).

3
4 “Face-to-face confrontation is the foundation upon which the United States
5 Supreme Court's Confrontation Clause jurisprudence evolved.” Chavez v. State,
6 213 P.3d 476, 483 (Nev. 2009). In Crawford, the Court held that the Confrontation
7 Clause bars "admission of testimonial statements of a witness who did not appear
8 at trial unless he was unavailable to testify, and the defendant had had a prior
9 opportunity for cross-examination." 541 U.S. at 53-54, 124 S.Ct. 1354. “In so
10 doing, the Supreme Court observed that the Confrontation Clause was a procedural
11 rather than a substantive guarantee. It commands, not that evidence be reliable, but
12 that reliability be assessed in a particular manner: by testing in the crucible of
13 cross-examination.” Chavez, 213 P.3d at 483.
14

15
16 Whether a defendant's Confrontation Clause rights were violated is
17
18 "ultimately a question of law that must be reviewed de novo." U.S. v. Larson, 495
19 F.3d 1094, 1102 (9th Cir.2007); *see* U.S. v. Holt, 486 F.3d 997, 1001 (7th
20 Cir.2007); U.S. v. Kenyon, 481 F.3d 1054, 1063 (8th Cir.2007); U.S. v. Townley,
21 472 F.3d 1267, 1271 (10th Cir.2007); U.S. v. Hitt, 473 F.3d 146, 155-56 (5th
22 Cir.2006).
23
24

25
26 ///

27
28 ///

1 **B. The State Did Not Establish that Lacey Could Not Travel Due to**
2 **Health Conditions**

3 Cynthia Lacey (“Lacey”) was Chambers fiancé at the time of the altercation.
4
5 The State sought to call Lacey as a witness in their case-in-chief because according
6 to the State, Lacey had observed Chambers with a firearm days before the crime
7 and she was the only person to whom Chambers expressed his intent to rob
8 Papoutsis. 2 AA 1279. Although the State subpoenaed her and issued a material
9 witness warrant, the warrant was only valid in Nevada and Lacey was living in
10 Arizona. 10 AA 913. However, according to the State, Lacey was unable to travel
11 to appear for trial because she recently had a heart attack and the stress of
12 testifying would allegedly be too harmful to her health. 2 AA 179. Therefore, the
13 State sought to have her testify via audiovisual technology (using a program
14 similar to Skype). 2 AA 1760-191.
15
16
17

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