#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

GARY LAMAR CHAMBERS,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Nov 16 2018 02:35 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 73446

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

JEAN J. SCHWARTZER, ESQ. Law Office of Jean J. Schwartzer Nevada Bar #011223 10620 Southern Highlands Pkwy. Suite 110-473 Las Vegas, Nevada 89141 (702) 979-9941 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

Id. Specifically, Chambers alleges that he was unaware that Bridgett was convicted

of a misdemeanor larceny. Id. Chambers' arguments are unconvincing and he fails to show prejudice.

While considering the State's motion to admit the preliminary hearing transcript, the district court noted that there were no confrontation issues regarding Bridgett's preliminary hearing transcript. 6 AA 587. Rather, the district court was solely concerned with the issue of whether the State could show Bridgett was unavailable. <u>Id.</u>; <u>See NRS 51.055</u> (defining witness unavailability).

The State represented to the district court that Bridgett disregarded the State's subpoena. 6 AA 574-575. In fact, the State received an email from Bridgett simply stating that she was "not coming." Id. The State asked Bridgett, on multiple occasions, for her telephone number or other contact information, but she refused to provide any. 6 AA 575-576. The State then sought a warrant against Bridgett. Id. When the State tracked Bridgett to an address and made contact with people living at that address, the individuals indicated that Bridgett was "not staying there," they had not "seen [her] in three weeks," and they did not "know where she [was]." 13 AA 1221. This information contradicted the fact that the State knew Bridgett used a server at that address the previous day.<sup>5</sup> <u>Id.</u> Ultimately, the district court found that Bridgett persistently failed to comply with the State's subpoena. 13 AA 1227.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Presumably, the State's investigator traced one of the emails sent by Bridgett during her conversation with the trial deputy to this particular address.

Moreover, the district court found that the State exerted "reasonable efforts" to secure Bridgett's presence at trial. <u>Id.</u> Lastly, during argument, trial counsel raised the issue that after Bridgett's preliminary hearing, he discovered that Bridgett was arrested for petit larceny. 13 AA 1229. Trial counsel argued that the State should have disclosed this information because the arrest involved a crime of dishonesty. 13 AA 1234. The district court disagreed and found as follows:

Well, I'm going to go ahead and allow the preliminary hearing transcript. I don't see that there's a violation of the 6<sup>th</sup> Amendment confrontation clause merely where defense counsel is not aware of a petit larceny misdemeanor and is deprived of a chance to then cross-examine the witness on that misdemeanor. I don't find that

that rises to the level of depriving the Defendant of a fair

opportunity at cross-examination.

Id. Here, Bridgett's prior testimony was properly admitted because the State satisfied the three conditions set forth in Hernandez: (1) Chambers was represented by counsel at the preliminary hearing, (2) counsel cross-examined Bridgett, and (3) Bridgett was actually unavailable at the time of trial. 14 AA 1271, 1351; 2 AA 173-175. While Chambers argues that he was prejudiced because he could not impeach Bridgett's credibility with her misdemeanor petit larceny conviction, that argument should be disregarded because Chambers was afforded "a thorough opportunity to cross-examine the witness" during the preliminary hearing. Chavez, 124 Nev. at 337, 339, 213 P.3d at 482, 484.

The record reveals that during cross-examination Chambers asked Bridgett over 35 questions. 1 AA 85-91. While Chambers' opening brief focuses on Bridgett's direct-examination testimony, Chambers ignores Bridgett's cross-examination testimony. Id. During cross-examination Bridgett admitted that she was "high on methamphetamine" as she waited for Chambers in the car. 1 AA 85. Moreover, she testified that she never saw Chambers with a gun on the day of the shooting. 1 AA 86-87. The fact Bridgett admitted that she was on methamphetamine goes directly to her credibility. Even assuming, *arguendo*, that Bridgett was convicted of a misdemeanor petit larceny, that fact is far less damaging than the testimony elicited by Chambers during Bridgett's cross-examination.

Chambers cites to <u>Yates v. State</u>, 596 P.2d 239, 241, 95 Nev. 446, 449 (1979) to support his argument that crimes of dishonesty are admissible for impeachment purposes. AOB at 28. However, Chambers' reliance in <u>Yates</u> is misplaced. <u>Yates</u> involved a robbery and larceny, both felonies. <u>Yates</u>, 95 Nev. at 449, 596 P.2d at 241. The instant case involves a petit larceny misdemeanor. Moreover, in <u>Yates</u>, the State sought, as appellant seems to argue here, to present evidence of a prior conviction to impeach a witness pursuant to *NRS* 50.095. NRS 50.095(1) permits impeachment by showing that a witness was convicted of a crime "only if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment for more than 1 year under the law under which the witness was convicted." A petit larceny conviction, as a misdemeanor, is

punishable by, at most, imprisonment for six months. NRS 193.150; NRS 205.240. Therefore, a petit larceny conviction could not be admitted under NRS 50.095.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that a petit larceny conviction were admissible as impeachment evidence, Chambers had the opportunity to introduce the petit larceny conviction to impeach Bridgett, despite the witnesses unavailability. See NRS 51.325(1); NRS 51.069. A conviction, even if admissible under NRS 50.085, cannot be proven by extrinsic evidence and Chambers would not have been permitted to question Bridgett about the facts surrounding her petit larceny conviction. As this Court stated in <u>Drake v. State</u>:

"Further, we note that "[s]pecific instances of the conduct of a witness . . . other than conviction of crime" are not admissible for the purpose of attacking credibility. NRS 50.085(3). Even in the case of conviction of a crime, in order to be admissible for the purpose of attacking credibility the crime must be one "punishable by death or imprisonment for more than 1 year . . . ." NRS 50.095(1). Therefore, while a defendant might be entitled to ask a witness about an arrest record for prostitution, he would normally not be able to introduce extrinsic evidence of such a record if the only purpose of the evidence was to attack the credibility of the witness. NRS 50.085(3)."

<u>Drake v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 523, 527, 836 P.2d 52, 55 (1992); <u>See also Butler v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 879, 890-91, 102 P.3d 71, 79-80 (2004) (noting that parties may not impeach witnesses on collateral matters by introducing extrinsic evidence), overruled in part on other grounds by <u>Lisle v. State</u>, 351 P.3d 725 (2015); NRS 50.085(3). Therefore, even if Bridgett were questioned about her conviction at trial,

counsel was limited to a "yes" or "no" answer from Bridgett. Given Bridgett's other admissions on cross-examination, a "yes" or "no" answer would not have significantly undermined her credibility and any error, if it existed, was harmless.

Finally, Bridgett's testimony was not unique and her credibility, therefore, was less at issue. The State presented her testimony because it corroborated the testimonies of other witnesses at trial, specifically, Charles, and Bradley. Therefore, Chambers has failed to show prejudice or show how admitting Bridgett's preliminary hearing testimony violated his rights. Accordingly, Chambers' claims should be dismissed.

# IV. The district court properly denied Chambers' motion for a mistrial because Chambers was not prejudiced by the State's remarks during its closing argument.

A "[d]enial of a motion for a mistrial is within the trial court's sound discretion. The court's determination will not be disturbed on appeal in the absence of a clear showing of abuse." Parker v. State, 109 Nev. 383, 388-89, 849 P.2d 1062, 1066 (1993). Regarding prosecutorial misconduct, this Court applies a two-step analysis. Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008). First, this Court determines whether the prosecutor's conduct was improper, and then second, whether the conduct warrants reversal. Id.

With respect to the second step, this Court will not reverse if the misconduct was harmless error. <u>Id.</u> at 1188, 196 P.3d at 476. The proper standard of harmless-

error review depends on whether the prosecutorial misconduct is of a constitutional dimension. <u>Id.</u> at 1188-89, 196 P.3d at 476. Misconduct may be constitutional if a prosecutor comments on the exercise of a constitutional right, or the misconduct "so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." <u>Id.</u> at 1189, 196 P.3d 476-77 (quoting <u>Darden v. Wainright</u>, 477 U.S. 168, 181, 106 S. Ct. 2464, 2471 (1986)). When the misconduct is of constitutional dimension, this Court will reverse unless the State demonstrates that the error did not contribute to the verdict. <u>Id.</u> at 1189, 196 P.3d at 476-77. When the misconduct is not of constitutional dimension, this Court "will reverse only if the error substantially affects the jury's verdict." Id.

Chambers argues that he was prejudiced by the State's comment during its closing argument. AOB at 31-35. However, commenting on Appellant's *conduct* after the crime was committed, does not constitute prosecutorial misconduct. Therefore, Chambers' arguments are unpersuasive.

During its closing the State made the following statement which prompted an objection from trial counsel: "So, let's consider what did [Chambers] *do* after the crime? What did he do? What didn't he do? He left, right? He didn't stay and talk to police, anything like that. He didn't tell his story, right?" 12 AA 1136 (emphasis added). Immediately, following trial counsel's objection, the district court

admonished the jury. After the parties concluded their closing arguments, Chambers moved for a mistrial based on the State's comments about Chambers not telling "his story." 12 AA 1164. The district court noted that it gave a jury instruction "out of an abundance of caution." Id. The district court denied Chambers' motion, indicated it would review the JAVS regarding the State's closing argument, and once again, noted that its admonition to the jury cured any prejudice to Chambers. 12 AA 1165-1166. The next day the court indicated it listened to the JAVS "three times" and thought that "a reasonable person would understand the context [of the State's comment] was in connection with [Chambers] being silent right after the crime and not being silent here at trial." 12 AA 1197.

Here, the district court properly observed that the State's comment was made in a very limited context: Chambers' behavior after the crime, not Chambers' behavior at trial. A prosecutor's statements must be taken in context, as criminal convictions are not to be overturned lightly. Browning v. State, 124 Nev. 517, 533, 188 P.3d 60, 72 (2008) ("When reviewing prosecutorial misconduct, the challenged comments must be considered in context and a criminal conviction is not to be lightly overturned on the basis of a prosecutor's comments standing alone.") (internal quotations and citations omitted). The State's comment was not intended to direct

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The district court admonished the jury as follows: "The jury will disregard the last remark of the prosecutor regarding telling his story. Please strike that from your minds and don't consider it. Counsel may continue." 12 AA 1136.

the jury's attention to the fact that Chambers did not testify. Nor was the State's comment made regarding Chambers' right to invoke his right to remain silent during a police interview. Rather, the State's comment highlighted Chambers' flight from the crime scene and the fact that Chambers never told police that he acted in selfdefense immediately after the incident. To the extent Chambers was prejudiced, the district court instructed the jury to strike the State's comment and not consider it. 12 AA 1136. The district court's curative instruction neutralized any prejudice that may have stemmed from the State's remarks, especially in light of the overwhelming evidence presented to the jury. <sup>7</sup> See Summers v. State, 122 Nev. 1326, 1333, 148 P.3d 778, 783 (2006) (stating jurors are presumed to follow the district court's instructions). Since the State's comment referred to Chambers' conduct after the shooting, the comment was not one of constitutional dimension or one that infected Chambers' trial with unfairness as to deny his due process. Significantly, the State notes that Chambers' conduct after the shooting contradicted someone who supposedly acted in self-defense. Chambers' first instinct was not to contact the maintenance workers he saw when he entered Lisa's trailer or call an ambulance. Rather, following the shooting, Chambers opted to exit the front door of the trailer, walk past the maintenance workers while keeping silent of the fact he shot two

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The State does not concede that Chambers was prejudiced and any error occurred during trial.

people, and flee the scene. In fact, there is no record of Chambers contacting the authorities. Therefore, the State's comment was entirely permissible. <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1188-1189, 196 P.3d 476-477.

Additionally, assuming this Court finds the State's comment was improper, Chambers' claim still fails under a harmless error standard of review. <u>Id.</u> This is particularly true because Chambers cannot show a substantial right was prejudiced and given the evidence at trial a rational jury would have found Chambers guilty.

NRS 178.598 provides that "[a]ny error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." Constitutional error is harmless when "it is 'clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." <u>Tavares v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 725, 732 n.14, 30 P.3d 1128, 1132 n. 14 (2001) (quoting <u>Neder v. United States</u>, 527 U.S. 1, 3, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 1830 (1999)). Non-constitutional trial error is reviewed for harmlessness based on whether it had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict. <u>Knipes v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 927, 935, 192 P.3d 1178, 1183 (2008).

Here, the State presented extensive and compelling evidence linking Chambers to the crime. The jury was presented with testimony from Lisa who previously knew Chambers and identified him as the shooter. Moreover, Lisa's testimony was corroborated by Daniel, Charles, and Bradley. All of these witnesses

testified they heard gunshots and saw Chambers exit Lisa's trailer as he held a gun in his right hand. Daniel specifically corroborated Lisa's testimony when he observed Lisa exit the back of her trailer while holding her arm and asking for assistance. The jury also heard testimony from Bradley and Charles that they observed Chambers escape in a gray vehicle that was parked near Lisa's trailer. Bradley testified that he saw a woman sitting in the passenger's side of the getaway vehicle and Bradley's testimony was corroborated by Bridgett. She testified that on the day of the incident she waited in the parked car, with Chambers' daughter, outside of one of the trailers at Van's. The jury also heard that Chambers told Bridgett a few days prior to July 9, 2013, that he was going "to come up" and "hit a lick." 1 AA 82-83, 84. Bridgett interpreted Chambers' comments to mean he planned on committing a robbery. The jury also heard live testimony from Cynthia. As a result of Cynthia's inconsistencies during her testimony, the State admitted portions of her recorded interview with police. The jury heard that Chambers admitted to Cynthia that on the day of the incident he called and said that "he got into some s\*\*\*." See Partial Recording of Interview with Cynthia Lacey Admitted as State's Trial Exhibit 122.8 Moreover, the jury heard Cynthia mention that days before the incident Chambers said he was going to do something stupid and brought home a

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Chambers noted that a Motion for Transmittal of Exhibits would be shortly submitted shortly after Chambers' opening brief was filed. The State is relying on Chambers' representations of Cynthia's interview.

gun that was kept in a black fabric holster. <sup>9</sup> <u>Id.</u>; <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008) (reasoning that "this court will not reverse a conviction based on prosecutorial misconduct if it was harmless error."); <u>see also United States v. Young</u>, 470 U.S. 1, 11 (1985) ("[A] criminal conviction is not to be lightly overturned on the basis of a prosecutor's comments standing alone, for the statements or conduct must be viewed in context . . .").

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